IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SCO5-242

ROY CLIFTON SWAFFORD,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR VOLUSIA COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

TERRI L. BACKHUS Assistant CCRC-South Florida Bar #0946427

CRAIG J. TROCINO Assistant CCRC-South Florida Bar #996270

NEAL DUPREE Capital Collateral Regional Counsel – South 101 N.E. 3rd Avenue, Suite 400 Ft. Lauderdale, FL 33301 Tel (954) 713-1284 Fax (954) 713- 1299

COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Citations in this brief to designate references to the records, followed by the appropriate page number, are as follows:

Introduction

This case represents one of those truly rare instances where this Court has summarily brushed aside on wholly speculative grounds a colorable claim of actual innocence and a possible serious miscarriage of justice. There has been absolutely no focus here on the reality of what actually happened. Tragically too, the claim arises out of a demonstrated <u>Brady</u> violation where the police and prosecuting authorities failed to provide the defendant, as they were constitutionally obligated to do, with substantial evidence of another person's guilt for the crime for which the defendant has been sentenced to die.

Swafford v. State, 828 So. 2d 966, 968 (Fla. 2002) [Anstead, J., dissenting]¹

For nearly 30 years, Mr. Swafford has steadfastly maintained his innocence of the Brenda Rucker murder. The State presented an entirely circumstantial case. No physical evidence linked Mr. Swafford to the crime. Hearsay testimony of a convicted felon in jail on pending charges and contradictory testimony about a .38 pistol that may have fired the nine different bullets found in the victim was the only circumstantial evidence against Mr. Swafford. But the alleged murder weapon that was not tested until one year after the crime, could not be conclusively linked to Mr. Swafford. An eyewitness's composite sketch did not resemble Mr. Swafford, but did strongly resemble another suspect.

In 2002, Mr. Swafford was narrowly denied a new trial based on *Brady v*. *Maryland*, 373 U.S. 83 (1963) violations by a 4-3 decision of this Court. Four

¹Justice Pariente concurred in Justice Anstead's dissenting opinion.

justices found Mr. Swafford's *Brady* claims to be procedurally barred because his state-provided collateral counsel failed to locate a suspect withheld by the State and previously disclosed to Mr. Swafford's trial counsel.² Three members of this Court were so disturbed by the majority's opinion, they authored two lengthy dissenting opinions. The trial court has been reversed and the DNA issue remanded by this Court twice. This was the backdrop upon which Mr. Swafford has fought for proper DNA testing.

After filing a Rule 3.853 DNA motion, a hearing was held to determine which pieces of evidence were available for testing but the trial court, at the State's urging, deferred an evidentiary hearing on authenticity and contamination issues to "another day." Mr. Swafford has never gotten "another day" on the contamination issue.

Under Rule 3.853, only Florida Department of Law Enforcement (FDLE) was authorized to conduct nuclear STR DNA testing on serological and biological evidence. After failing to obtain a result, the hair evidence was submitted to Mitotyping Technologies for testing because FDLE did not have the capability to conduct mitochondrial DNA testing on hair evidence.

The results of the DNA testing by FDLE showed:

²This was a per curiam opinion joined by Chief Justice Wells, Justices Shaw and Harding. Justice Lewis concurred in result only.

--male DNA on a hair found on a white towel with a flower pattern near the victim did **not** match Mr. Swafford;

--Fingernail scrapings of the victim yielded a "limited DNA mixture" but obtained no "interpretable" results (a DNA mixture indicates either that more than one DNA profile exists in that scraping or that the laboratory has contamination issues in its testing procedures);

--FDLE discovered a DNA "mixture" on hair evidence that had been mounted on glass slides since the 1980s. FDLE was only able to test those hair strands that contained a follicle with cells containing a nucleus. Mr. Swafford argued that a hair follicle can logically only come from the person from whom the hair was extracted. It cannot originate from two persons. Though Mr. Swafford argued that some other cellular matter contaminated the hair originally before it was mounted or in the mounting solution used by FDLE in the 1980s, he was denied an evidentiary hearing on this issue.

-- FDLE's testing indicated that no acid phosphatase was found and no semen was identified on vaginal and anal swabs from the victim.

Because FDLE did not have the ability to do mitochondrial DNA testing, it

sent the hair samples to Mitotyping Technologies. Mitotyping's test results

showed that:

-- a hair found in the victim's panties did **not** belong to the victim or Mr. Swafford.

The conclusive results by FDLE and Mitotyping show that Mr. Swafford

was not a contributor to the DNA samples. Had Mr. Swafford defense counsel had

this information, he could have argued that Mr. Swafford was not implicated in this

crime. None of this information was known to Mr. Swafford's jury.

Despite evidence of innocence, the trial court rejected this exonerating

evidence and discounted the weight of the DNA results that showed Mr. Swafford is innocent.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Mr. Swafford was charged with first-degree murder, sexual battery, and robbery. A jury found Mr. Swafford guilty of first-degree murder and sexual battery, but acquitted him of robbery. Mr. Swafford's conviction for sexual battery was predicated on the mistaken belief that acid phosphatase, an enzyme found in large quantities in seminal fluid, was present in rape kit swabs taken from the victim during her autopsy. The jury recommended death by a vote of 10 to 2 (R. 1661), and the court sentenced Mr. Swafford to death. This Court affirmed the convictions and death sentence. *See Swafford v. State*, 533 So. 2d 270 (Fla. 1988)(Barkett dissenting).

In 1990, Florida's governor signed a death warrant scheduling Mr. Swafford's execution for November 13, 1990. Mr. Swafford subsequently filed a motion under Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.850 in the lower court, which denied the motion without an evidentiary hearing. Mr. Swafford appealed to this Court and filed a petition for a writ of habeas corpus. This Court affirmed the denial of Rule 3.850 relief and denied the habeas corpus petition. *See Swafford v. Dugger*, 569 So. 2d 1264 (Fla. 1990).

Mr. Swafford then filed a petition for a writ of habeas corpus in the United

States District Court, which denied relief. Mr. Swafford appealed to the United States Court of Appeal for the Eleventh Circuit. In November 1990, the Eleventh Circuit stayed Mr. Swafford's execution. Proceedings in that court were later held in abeyance while Mr. Swafford pursued other state remedies.

In 1991, Mr. Swafford filed a second petition for a writ of habeas corpus in this Court. Subsequently, this Court denied relief. *Swafford v. Singletary*, 584 So. 2d 5 (Fla. 1991).

In 1991, Mr. Swafford filed a second Rule 3.850 motion. The lower court denied the motion without an evidentiary hearing, and Mr. Swafford again appealed to this Court. While the appeal was pending, Mr. Swafford asked this Court to relinquish jurisdiction for an evidentiary hearing on the "Howard Pearl" issue regarding trial counsel's status as a deputy sheriff and on whether the lower court judge engaged in *ex parte* communications with the State in denying his Rule 3.850 motions. This Court granted the requested relinquishment.

After an evidentiary hearing on these two issues, the lower court denied relief. Mr. Swafford appealed. This Court affirmed the denial of Rule 3.850 relief. *Swafford v. State*, 636 So. 2d 1309 (Fla. 1994).

In 1994, Mr. Swafford filed a third Rule 3.850 motion. The lower court denied the motion without an evidentiary hearing. Mr. Swafford appealed to this Court, which reversed and ordered an evidentiary hearing. *Swafford v. State*, 679

So. 2d 736 (Fla. 1996).

In 1997, the lower court held an evidentiary hearing and again denied relief. In 2002, this Court affirmed the denial of Rule 3.850 relief. *Swafford v. State*, 828 So. 2d 966 (Fla. 2002)(Pariente, Quince, Anstead dissenting).

On October 9, 2002, Mr. Swafford filed a Motion for DNA Testing pursuant to Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.853, in which he requested testing of the available physical evidence with the new technological advances in forensic testing since 1986. He requested STR DNA testing of any serological material available and mitochondrial DNA testing of any hair evidence in existence. The State claimed Ms. Rucker's blood samples had been destroyed making DNA testing impossible (PC-R7. 76). The lower court denied the DNA motion and Mr. Swafford appealed this denial to this Court on September 25, 2003. Mr. Swafford filed a motion for post-conviction relief arguing that recent technological advancements in DNA testing amounted to newly-discovered which would prove his innocence. (PC-R6. 13). Within this claim³, Mr. Swafford alleged that the destruction of the blood sample was in bad faith and warranted relief under *Arizona v. Youngblood*, 488

³Alternatively, Mr. Swafford argued that in light of the new scientific developments in the field of DNA testing and analysis, the standard set forth in *Youngblood* for establishing a due process violation under both the Florida and/or United States Constitution should be lowered.

U.S. 51 (1988).⁴ (PC-R6. 20). Mr. Swafford specifically requested that an evidentiary hearing be conducted on his newly discovered evidence claim (PC-R6. 25).

The State urged that Mr. Swafford's 3.850 motion be dismissed on the merits and as untimely filed (PC-R6. 39). On June 5, 2003, the lower court dismissed the 3.850 motion (PC-R6. 46). Mr. Swafford appealed the denial of his 3.850 motion to this Court. As a result, both the denial of the DNA motion and the Rule 3.850 motion were before this Court.

On March 26, 2004, this Court entered two orders in Mr. Swafford's appeals reversing the lower court (PC-R7. 229, 230). One order reversed the amended order denying DNA testing. The second order reversed the denial of Mr. Swafford's 3.850 motion. This Court granted Mr. Swafford "sixty (60) days from the date of the lower court's order in respect to Rule 3.853 to amend the fourth motion for post-conviction relief as to issues related to DNA testing of evidence."⁵ (PC-R7. 230).

After the remand, the State revealed on June 11, 2004 for the first time that the victim's blood sample had been found in the Volusia County Clerk's Office,

⁴Also included in this motion was a claim that Florida's capital sentencing scheme was unconstitutional per *Ring v. Arizona*, 122 S. Ct. 2428 (2002).

⁵This Court did not decide Mr. Swafford's *Ring* claim in light of its reversal of this court's order denying his 3.850 motion.

though the sample had not been properly stored or maintained.⁶ (PC-R7. 72). The lower court ordered that biological evidence capable of STR DNA testing be tested by FDLE's Orlando laboratory. The lower court also ordered the hair evidence suitable for mitochondrial DNA testing to be tested by Mitotyping Technologies in Pennsylvania⁷ because FDLE was incapable of such testing.

Also at the June 11, 2004 evidentiary hearing, counsel for Mr. Swafford informed the trial judge that he was prepared to go forward on the issues of authenticity of the forensic evidence and the contamination problems pursuant to this Court's orders (PC-R7. 48, 51, 56). At the suggestion of the State, the trial judge refused to hear testimony on those matters. The trial judge ordered that issues of contamination and authenticity were to be "left for another day, as per the two opinions from the Supreme Court." (PC-R7. 55).

On October 28, 2004, FDLE submitted its findings on the rape kit swabs (oral, anal, and vaginal) and projectiles collected from the victim's body during the autopsy (PC-R7. 262-64). The liquid blood standard had "dried up," and no stain card was able to be produced. The FDLE, however, was able to determine through STR testing that the DNA profile was "consistent with originating from a female

⁶When FDLE conducted STR DNA testing on items capable of STR DNA testing, it identified the victim's DNA from the degraded blood sample.

⁷The parties agreed to rely upon the transcript of the proceedings rather than reduce the list of items to be tested to a formal written order.

individual." (PC-R7. 263). FDLE did not specify in this report exactly what type of analysis it conducted on the oral, anal, and vaginal swabs obtained from the victim. Its only finding as to these items was that "[S]emen was not identified on the above Exhibits." (PC-R7. 263).

On February 21, 2005, FDLE submitted its findings on the items held by Volusia County Sheriff's Office (PC-R7. 265-69). Among FDLE's findings were the following results:

a. *Right and Left Fingernail Scrapings from Brenda Rucker (the victim)* – FDLE was able to obtain a "limited DNA mixture" from this evidence.

b. *White Panties (of the victim)* – FDLE noted chemical indications for the presence of blood. Their analysis failed to give chemical indications for the presence of semen.

c. White Towel With Flower Pattern⁸ – A hair collected from this towel was consistent with a male individual, but did *not* match Mr. Swafford's DNA profile.

d. *Debris* – Analysis of this exhibit (Q16) gave chemical indications for the presence of blood. No further testing appears to have been conducted.

e. Various Slide-Mounted Hair Standards – While several of these were deemed by FDLE to be suitable for STR testing, FDLE had not conducted DNA testing on those items. (Some of these hairs were later

⁸This item was not specifically listed on the evidence property report produced by VCSO in preparation for the evidentiary hearing held June 11, 2004.

tested by FDLE, and those test results were set forth in their July 22, 2005 supplemental report.

(PC-R7. 537-42).

FDLE was unable to get a conclusive result on the rape kit vagina swabs or the fingernail scrapings of the victim. Since FDLE could not get a result on many of the items, Mr. Swafford filed a Motion to Permit Additional DNA Testing on March 7, 2005 (PC-R7. 285-416). Mr. Swafford requested that the rape kit and fingernail scraping samples be sent to Forensic Science Associates, a forensic laboratory in Richmond, California that had previously been used by both the State and the defense in other cases, for additional DNA testing. The State objected on March 10, 2005 (PC-R7. 270-84). A status hearing was held on March 11, 2005 and the court orally denied Mr. Swafford's request for additional DNA testing, finding that Forensic Science Associates is not "certified" as required by Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.853. (PC-R7. 420-21).

FDLE provided a supplemental written report dated July 22, 2005 on DNA testing results of hair evidence on "various mounted slides" it had not previously tested in the 1980's (PC-R7. 537-42). FDLE found a DNA profile foreign to Ms. Rucker on hairs that had previously been mounted on glass slides at the time of trial. The DNA profile was consistent with "originating from a male individual" and indicated the presence of a "mixture" but due to low levels of DNA the foreign DNA profile could not be conclusively resolved.

Mitotyping Technologies submitted a written report on November 18, 2005 finding that the DNA results from the hair retrieved from the victim's panties did not belong to Mr. Swafford or the victim. (PC-R7. 561-66).

After the submission of these reports to the court, a hearing was held January 6, 2006 to address the status of the remand. The State maintained that the scope of the remand had been satisfied, and that the trial judge should enter a written order on the remand (PC-R7. 205-06). The court concluded there were no contamination issues and if there were, that they should be addressed in a Rule 3.851 motion. The trial court entered an "Order Following Remand on DNA Issues" on January 25, 2006 (PC-R7. 587-90).

On appeal of this order, this Court affirmed the circuit court's order denying Mr. Swafford relief on the basis of Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.853. However, this Court held that the "denial is without prejudice to Swafford presenting DNA issues, including any issues concerning possible contamination of DNA samples in further proceedings under rule 3.851." *Swafford v. State*, 946 So. 2d 1060, 1061 (Fla. 2006). Mr. Swafford was afforded 60 days in which to file and amended rule 3.851 motion.

Mr. Swafford filed an amended 3.851 seeking an evidentiary hearing on the DNA that exonerated him as well as the issues regarding authenticity and contamination of the biological samples. He also argued that his constitutional

rights were violated by not being able to have the DNA evidence independently tested by his forensic DNA expert. The circuit court summarily denied all claims for relief with the narrow exception of the issue regarding acid phosphatase. The court held a limited evidentiary hearing on March 2 and March 5, 2009 on the fact that FDLE now determined there was no acid phosphatase present on the swabs taken from the victim. On August 12, 2010, the court entered an order denying Mr. Swafford all relief and this appeal follows.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On February 14, 1982, at approximately 6:15 a.m., Brenda Rucker was abducted from a Fina gas station in Ormond Beach, Florida (R. 728, 739-40, 1273). A composite drawing of the suspect was prepared (PC-R4 T. 547) and a BOLO and composite drawing were issued on February 16, 1982.

The suspect was described as being in his late 20's to early 30's, 160 to 170 lbs, 5'10" to 6'0" tall, brown hair with reddish tint, light brown eyes, bushy eyebrows, a full reddish tint beard neatly trimmed and a fair complexion (PC-R5. 53).

On February 15, 1982, Ms. Rucker's body was discovered by sheriff's deputies in a wooded area about 6.5 miles from the gas station (R. 746, 748). Ms. Rucker had been sexually assaulted both anally and vaginally and had been shot nine times (R. 768-69, 771). The bullets passed through her clothing, indicating

that she was fully clothed at the time she was shot (R. 767). No spent bullet casings were found at the scene. State witnesses opined that the fatal shot was "[b]ehind the victim's right ear" where "a faint imprint of the muzzle of a weapon" appeared (R. 765). Ms. Rucker's autopsy revealed "two marks on the body of the victim possibly caused by the application of a lighted cigarette." (PC-R3.204).

Police collected the victim's blood samples, vaginal, oral and anal swabs. Swabs also were taken from back of her head, and behind her right ear (PC-R5. 42). This evidence was examined by FDLE. An April 19, 1982 FDLE report showed "[a] chemical test for acid phosphatase, a substance characteristically found in seminal fluid, was positive on Exhibit Q26 (the vaginal swabs) and on Exhibit 26D (the anal swabs). However, semen could not be conclusively identified as no spermatozoa were found." (PC-R5. 43).

Additional FDLE reports found biological material present on the following physical evidence:

- a. portion of toilet tissue containing hairs;
- b. pubic hair sample collected from Rucker;
- c. scalp hair sample from Rucker;
- d. pubic hair combings collected from Rucker;
- e. hair sample collected from area of wound;
- f. fingernail scrapings collected from Rucker;

- g. questioned hairs collected from pubic region;
- h. bag collected from Rucker's right hand;
- i. bag collected from Rucker's left hand;
- j. hair sample collected from area of wound;
- k. blouse and one sock;
- l. vest;
- m. slacks;
- n. panties (described as stained);
- o. pair of shoes and one sock; and
- p. blood sample and swabs.
- (PC-R5. 45-46).

On May 12, 1982 the FDLE found a collection of "[f]our light brown to blonde hairs typical of Caucasian public hair" from the tissue found with Ms. Rucker's body (PC-R5. 46). Ms. Rucker's known pubic hair sample was described as "brown and dark brown" (PC-R5. 46). Ms. Rucker's scalp hair sample was described as "brown." (PC-R5. 46).

FDLE also examined the pubic hair combings collected from Ms. Rucker, and found "[n]umerous brown hairs typical of Caucasian pubic hair." (PC-R5. 46). As to the questioned hairs collected from the pubic region, the report indicated "[n]umerous brown hairs typical of Caucasian pubic hair are contained in this exhibit [and are] suitable for comparison purposes." (PC-R5. 47). As to the blouse and sock, the report noted the presence of "[t]hree **blonde** hair fragments typical of Caucasian scalp hair." (PC-R5. 47)[emphasis added].

Long before Mr. Swafford surfaced as a suspect, James Michael Walsh had been investigated as a suspect.⁹ According to a March 17, 1982 supplemental police report, James Michael Walsh had been arrested in Arkansas (PC-R4T. Def. Exh. 2). In his possession at the time of his arrest was the BOLO and composite drawing for the Rucker homicide in Daytona Beach (PC-R4T. Def. Exh. 2). Arkansas authorities recognized Mr. Walsh's strong resemblance to the composite drawing.

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