IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

ROY CLIFTON SWAFFORD,

Appellant,	
v.	Case No. SC10-1772
STATE OF FLORIDA,	
Appellee.	1

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

PAMELA JO BONDI ATTORNEY GENERAL

Barbara C. Davis Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 0410519 444 Seabreeze Blvd., 5th Floor Telephone: (386) 238-4990

Facsimile: (386) 226-0457

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

Claim 2. The issue regarding testing by an unaccredited lab was resolved by this Court in *Swafford v. State*, 946 So. 2d 1060 (Fla. 2006). Not only is *Swafford*, *supra* the law of the case, but also this issue is procedurally barred. Additionally, Swafford's argument that he has a Due Process right to testing by a lab of his choosing has no merit.

Claim 3. Whether the lower court complied with this Court's order is procedurally barred. *Swafford v. State*, 946 So. 2d 1060 (Fla. 2006), is law of the case and specifically held that the trial judge complied with this Court's order.

ARGUMENTS

CLAIM I

THE TRIAL JUDGE PROPERLY FOUND THAT NEWLY-PRODUCED EVIDENCE WOULD NOT PRODUCE AN ACQUITTAL AT THE GUILT PHASE OR RESULT IN A LIFE SENTENCE

There are two parts to this issue: (1) the acid phosphatase test on which the trial judge held an evidentiary hearing; and (2) "other" test results on which there was no evidentiary hearing.

Standard of Review. The standard of review for claims on which an evidentiary hearing was held is: "when the evidence adequately supports two conflicting theories, this Court's duty is to review the record in the light most favorable to the prevailing theory." *Swafford v. State*, 828 So. 2d 966, 977 (Fla. 2002). Under that standard, this Court will not alter a trial court's factual findings if the record contains competent, substantial evidence to support those findings. As long as the trial court's findings are supported by competent, substantial evidence, "this Court will not substitute its judgment for that of the trial court on questions of fact, likewise of the credibility of the witnesses as well as the weight to be given to the evidence by the trial

court." Jones v. State, 591 So. 2d 911, 915, 916 (Fla. 1991).

For claims in a successive postconviction motion which are summarily denied:

Rule 3.851(f)(5)(B) permits the denial of a successive postconviction motion without an evidentiary hearing "[i]f the motion, files, and records in the case conclusively show that the movant is entitled to no relief." A postconviction court's decision regarding whether to grant a rule 3.851 evidentiary hearing depends upon the written materials before the court; thus, for all practical purposes, its ruling is tantamount to a pure question of law and is subject to de novo review. See, e.g., Rose v. State, 985 So. 2d 500, 505 (Fla. 2008). In reviewing a trial court's summary denial of postconviction relief, we must accept the defendant's allegations as true to the extent that they are not conclusively refuted by the record. See Freeman v. State, 761 So. 2d 1055, 1061 (Fla. 2000). The Court will uphold the summary denial of a newly-discovered-evidence claim if the motion is legally insufficient or its allegations are conclusively refuted by the record. See McLin v. State, 827 So. 2d 948, 954 (Fla. 2002).

Ventura v. State, 2 So. 3d 194, 197-198 (Fla. 2009).

The standard for newly-discovered evidence requires that, first, the evidence must not have been known by the trial court, the party, or counsel at the time of trial, and it must appear that the defendant or defense counsel could not have known of it by the use of diligence. Second, "the newly discovered evidence must be of such nature that it would probably produce an acquittal on retrial." *Jones v. State*, 709 So. 2d 512, 521 (Fla. 1998). In determining whether the evidence requires a new trial, the circuit court must "consider all newly discovered evidence which would be admissible" and must "evaluate the weight of both the newly discovered evidence and the evidence

which was introduced at the trial." *Heath v. State*, 3 So. 3d 1017, 1024 (Fla. 2009) (quoting *Jones v. State*, 591 So. 2d 911, 916 (Fla. 1991). Once it is determined that the newly discovered evidence would be admissible, "an evaluation of the weight to be accorded the evidence includes whether the evidence goes to the merits of the case or whether it constitutes impeachment evidence." *Jones II*, 709 So. 2d at 521. "The trial court should also determine whether the evidence is cumulative to other evidence in the case" and consider "the materiality and relevance of the evidence and any inconsistencies in the newly discovered evidence." *Id.; see also Lowe v. State*, 2 So. 3d 21, 33 (Fla. 2008). If postconviction evidence is favorable to the State, that evidence is considered in the cumulative analysis. *Johnston v. State*, 27 So. 3d 11, 20 (Fla. 2010); *Green v. State*, 975 So. 2d 1090, 1101 (Fla. 2008); *Wright v. State*, 995 So. 2d 324, 327-328(Fla. 2008).

<u>Lower Court Order.</u> The issues raised in this appeal were raised in Claim 1 in the motion to vacate. The trial judge denied relief:

On the morning hours of February 14, 1982, the female victim, Brenda Rucker, was kidnapped from the gas station she worked at and ultimately her body was discovered several miles away shot nine times.

On August 9, 1983, the Volusia County Grand Jury returned a three count Indictment against the Defendant.

Count one was a charge of first degree premeditated murder. Count two was a charge of sexual battery. Count three was a charge of robbery with

a firearm.

The matter proceeded to jury trial before Circuit Judge Kim C. Hammond and on November 6, 1985, the jury returned its verdict finding the Defendant, Roy Clifton Swafford, guilty as charged to count one, first degree murder; guilty as charged to count two of sexual battery with great bodily harm; and not guilty as to count three which was armed robbery with a firearm.

The matter proceeded to a penalty phase and on November 12, 1985, the jury recommended death by a vote of ten to two.

On November 12, 1985, Judge Hammond imposed a sentence of death as to count one. The matter was affirmed on direct appeal to the Florida Supreme Court on September 29, 1988.

During the course of the post-conviction relief proceedings, Judge Hammond was recused and the matter was re-assigned to this Court.

The Defendant filed his Amended Fourth Motion for Post Conviction Relief on February 20, 2007. The amendment filed on that date raised two issues. First, there was newly discovered evidence regarding the DNA testimony presented during the jury trial. Second, was the argument that Fla. R. of Crim. Proc. 3.853 is unconstitutional on its face and as applied to the Defendant.

In addition, there appears to be a claim still holding over from the earlier post-conviction relief motions regarding the argument by the defense that Florida's capital sentencing scheme is unconstitutional pursuant to the United States Supreme Court decision of *Ring v. Arizona*, 122 S. Ct. 2428(U.S. 2002). Also to be addressed would be the cumulative effect argument of all the issues raised in the three previous post conviction relief motions and amendments.

A two day evidentiary hearing was held on the DNA issue on March 2 and March 3, 2009, before this Court. Testifying for the defense was its DNA expert from California, Alan Keel, and Shawn Johnson, from the

Florida Department of Law Enforcement, who in 2004 had done some retesting of the original DNA evidence collected in this case.

Testifying for the state was Special Agent Keith Paul, who was with the FBI at the time of this evidentiary hearing and was with the Florida Department of Law Enforcement originally and testified on behalf of the state regarding DNA testing at the original jury trial back in 1985.

At the jury trial in 1985 Keith Paul testifying for the state told the jury while running chemical tests for semen or seminal fluid that he received a positive test for acid phosphatase (hereafter referred to as APT), which he told the jury was commonly found in seminal fluid. He later told the jury that a positive test would be a very strong indication that semen was present. (Trial transcript pages 1017-1020).

Also at the jury trial in 1985 the Medical Examiner, Dr. Arthur Botting, told the jury that based on the positive APT that it established there was seminal fluid, though he further told the jury that the test did not find any actual sperm cells. (Trial transcript 779-780).

At the jury trial in 1985 the state prosecutor in his closing argument briefly told the jury there was evidence of semen. (Trial transcript page 1339).

At this DNA evidentiary hearing, the defense witness, Shawn Johnson, testified that approximately twenty (20) years later in 2004, while with the Florida Department of Law Enforcement he re-tested the vaginal and anal swabs that had been preserved and the APT was negative indicating the lack of seminal fluid.

The other defense witness at this hearing, Alan Keel, testified that with a negative APT, then that would indicate the lack of seminal fluid and the state witnesses at the jury trial in 1985 should have conducted further tests to confirm or refute the presence of seminal fluid.

The standard for newly discovered evidence requires first, that the asserted facts must have been unknown by the trial court, by the parties,

or by the attorneys, at the time of trial, and it must appear that the Defendant or his trial counsel could not have known then by the use of due diligence, and, if so, secondly, the newly discovered evidence must be of such nature that it would probably produce an acquittal on retrial. *See Jones v State*, 709 So. 2d 512 (Fla. 1998).

This Court finds that the defense has met the first prong of the standard for newly discovered evidence and finds that the negative APT results from the re-testing of the swabs in 2004 qualifies as such.

But as to the second prong of the newly discovered evidence standard this Court finds that the defense has failed to show that the newly discovered evidence would probably produce an acquittal on retrial or if there was a conviction again that the newly discovered evidence would probably result in a sentence of life rather than death.

At the jury trial in 1985, the state produced an extremely strong circumstantial evidence case against the Defendant, even if the jury was not told of the presence of semen.

At the jury trial the state produced evidence as to date, time, and place, that the Defendant had the opportunity to commit the kidnapping and murder of the victim.

The state also showed that within a few hours after the kidnapping and murder of the victim the Defendant had in his possession the firearm that fired the nine bullets killing the victim.

The state further produced evidence at the trial that approximately two months after the murder the Defendant confided in a friend a situation how they could kidnap, rape, and murder a female by shooting her. The Defendant further told his friend words to the effect that such a murder bothers you for a while, but you get used to it. These words would infer that he committed such a murder in the past.

Also at the jury trial there was evidence presented to the jury that there were physical injuries suffered by the victim which was

consistent with sexual assault.

As to a sentence of death rather than life, Judge Hammond found that five aggravators applied and that there was only one mitigator.

Judge Hammond found that the murder was heinous, atrocious, and cruel; he found that the murder was cold, calculated, and premeditated; he found the murder was committed to avoid arrest; he found the Defendant had a prior conviction of a felony of violence which was a conviction for burglary with assault with a fact situation where the Defendant had shot a person in the face and hip with a .38 caliber revolver during the burglary with an assault; finally, Judge Hammond found the murder was committed while the Defendant was engaged in a sexual assault of the victim.

The only mitigator Judge Hammond found that had been established was that in the past the Defendant was an Eagle Scout.

Based on the strong circumstantial evidence case against the Defendant at the guilt phase and the findings of five aggravators and a minimal mitigator even if testimony of semen being present is taken out of the equation that would still have left testimony that there was physical injuries to the victim consistent with sexual assault.

Again, this Court finds that the newly discovered evidence would not have probably produced an acquittal at the guilt phase nor would it have probably resulted in the recommendation of life or a life sentence.

As to the second claim in the Defendant's Amended Fourth Motion for Post-Conviction Relief, this Court finds that Fla. R. Crim. Pro. 3.853 is constitutional both facially and as applied to this Defendant and that claim is also rejected.

As to the remaining claim of the Defendant, that Florida's capital sentencing scheme is unconstitutional per *Ring v. Arizona*, this Court rejects that argument and finds that Florida's capital sentencing scheme is constitutional.

Finally, as to the cumulative effect argument, this Court finds that all of the issues argued in previous motions and the most current motions do not create a cumulative effect and would not have affected the outcome of the trial both at the guilt phase and the penalty phase and that argument is rejected.

Accordingly, based on the foregoing, it is:

ORDERED AND ADJUDGED that all the claims raised in the Defendant's Fourth Motion for Post Conviction Relief and Amended Fourth Motion for Post Conviction Relief are DENIED.

Further, it is, ORDERED AND ADJUDGED that the Defendant's claim that Florida's death sentencing scheme is unconstitutional and the claim of cumulative effect are also DENIED. (emphasis supplied)

(V14, R2442-2445).

Whether the 2004 test results are newly discovered evidence. The State does not agree, and argued in the lower court (V4, R576-79), that the testimony at the evidentiary hearing established that the acid phosphatase evidence is not "newly-discovered" since that test has existed since 1982 and a re-test on the rape kit could have been conducted at any point in the prior three postconviction proceedings. Likewise, included in Swafford's Exhibit #2 were hair comparisons from 1982 which excluded Swafford. (V11, R1843-45, 1854-55). The additional hair that was discovered in 2004 on the victim's panties could have been found at any point since 1982 had collateral counsel requested re-examination for hair comparison. This is Swafford's fourth postconviction motion and the "new" test results are time barred.

The "new" evidence does not meet the first requirement of *Jones v. State*, 709 So. 2d 512 (1998), because there was no due diligence in performing an acid phosphatase test or re-examining the panties. *Cf. Hitchcock v. State*, 991 So. 2d 337, 349 (Fla. 2008) (evidence does not qualify as newly discovered because it could have been discovered by use of diligence). Collateral counsel was aware of this issue as far back as 1990 when the first postconviction motion was filed and alleged trial counsel was ineffective for failing to conduct an independent medical exam on the rape. (1stPCR120). The issue was also raised in the second postconviction motion. (2ndPCR68).

Arguments raised. Swafford claims the trial judge erred by:

- (1) failing to consider all "exculpatory" DNA results (Initial Brief at 34, 35, 38);
- (2) misinterpreting the second prong of the newly-discovered evidence standard(Initial Brief at 34);
- (3) failing to reconcile how Judge Hammond could find statutory aggravator of during-a-sexual-battery (Initial Brief at 35);
- (4) citing to facts from direct appeal that have been "discredited" (Initial Brief at 36);
- (5) using the wrong standard to assess "prejudice" (Initial Brief at 36); ⁷
- (6) ignoring evidence from prior evidentiary hearings (Initial Brief at 37);
- (7) failing to make fact findings or credibility findings (Initial Brief at 38, 41); and

⁷ The State assumes this is the same issue as "the second prong" mentioned in (2).

(8) failing to cumulatively consider evidence from prior evidentiary hearings and evidence presented at trial (Initial Brief at 44).

(1) Trial judge failed to consider all "exculpatory" DNA results (Initial Brief at 34, 35, 38). Swafford claims the trial judge failed to rule on the white towel, hair in the underwear debris and "other inclusive testing." To the extent "other" testing is not specifically argued on appeal, the issue is abandoned and waived. See Simmons v. State, 934 So. 2d 1100, 1111 n.12 (Fla. 2006) citing Coolen v. State, 696 So. 2d 738, 742 n.2 (Fla. 1997); Duest v. Dugger, 555 So. 2d 849, 852 (Fla. 1990). The State will address the two items which are specifically alleged: the white towel and hair on the panties. The trial judge denied an evidentiary hearing on these claims finding "the State's argument more persuasive." Review of this finding is de novo.

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